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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

 
IN RE PETITION OF STANLEY  ) 
KUTLER, et al.    ) 
                                                                 )                         
 

 
 
 Miscellaneous Action 
  
  

 
Declaration of Richard J. Davis 

 
I, Richard J. Davis, hereby declare as follows: 
    

1. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal 

the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal Grand Jury on 

June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution 

Force. 

2. From 1973-75, I was an assistant special prosecutor with the Watergate 

Special Prosecution Force (“WSPF”).  In that role, I served as chief trial counsel in the 

trials of Dwight Chapin and Edward Reinecke, and I was chief of the Political Espionage 

and International Telephone and Telegraph Corporation Task Forces.  My 

responsibilities also included coordinating the WSPF’s efforts to obtain Presidential 

documents and testimony following the pardon of then former President Nixon.  Later, I 

was an Assistant Secretary of the Treasury for enforcement and operations during 

President Carter’s administration.  I also served in the Criminal Division of the United 

States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York.  In addition, as an expert 

on standards of prosecution I have testified before the House Judiciary Committee. 

3. The responsibilities of the WSPF included investigating far more than the 

break-in at the Watergate headquarters and the subsequent cover-up.  Among the other 

areas investigated were potential violations of the campaign finance laws, potential 
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illegal payments to a member of President Nixon’s Cabinet, the filing of false tax 

returns, the activities of Bebe Rebozo, the operations of the so-called Plumbers Unit 

and illegal wiretapping, the issue of improper influences on the Government’s antitrust 

case against International Telephone and Telegraph, the use of “dirty tricks” directed at 

the campaigns of various Democratic Presidential candidates, the so-called 18 ½   

minute gap in a key Presidential tape and more.  Although the pardon issued to 

President Nixon meant that he could not be prosecuted various aspects of these 

investigations continued after the pardon as to the potential culpability of others.  In this 

context we concluded that it was important to secure the testimony of the former 

President, and to do so in a manner that, if possible, would avoid endless litigation over 

potential executive privilege or other similar claims that would delay the completion of 

the work of the WSPF.  We believed it to be in the public interest that the work of the 

office be completed in a reasonably expeditious manner.      

4. In order to secure this testimony we entered into negotiations with the 

attorneys representing the former President.  Ultimately the negotiations led to an 

agreement that Mr. Nixon’s testimony would be taken in San Clemente, California, in 

the presence of representatives of the Grand Jury.  It was also agreed that the 

questioning would include those topics where the WSPF could represent that there was 

an ongoing Grand Jury investigation.  In a few additional areas where there was no 

Grand Jury investigation, but an ongoing criminal investigation it was agreed that 

representatives of the WSPF would interview the former President immediately 

following the completion of the testimony.  Although I do not recall precisely which 

topics were covered in the testimony or interview (or the precise position taken by the 
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former President on the topics covered), because of the Pardon and the fact that the 

investigation of the break-in itself and the cover-up had been completed some time 

before, these topics were not included.  These testimony and interviews ultimately took 

place over a two-day period in June, 1975.  My recollection is that a transcript of the 

testimony was subsequently presented to the Grand Jury in Washington.  With the 

agreement of the former President the fact of his testimony was publicly announced 

after its completion. 

5. The resignation of Richard Nixon marks the first and only time that a 

President of the United States has resigned from office.  The testimony taken 35 years 

ago represents the only occasion where the former President addressed under oath 

some (albeit not all) of the allegations surrounding his resignation.   

6. As a former prosecutor, I understand and support the need to maintain 

grand jury secrecy.  As time goes on, however, some of the key interests underlying the 

secrecy of grand jury proceedings diminish, particularly as those whose conduct may be 

referenced in these proceedings are deceased.  In contrast, in a limited number of 

cases, the historical importance of the proceedings does not diminish and, in rare 

cases, long survives the events.  I believe that the fact that a former President testified 

about criminal activity that occurred during his Administration, and in which his top staff 

were involved and which led to his resignation, presents one of the exceptional cases in 

which the historical importance of the material outweighs the need for secrecy.  Based 

on my experience as a prosecutor, I do not believe that disclosure of President Nixon’s 

testimony and the related additional records requested would create the kind of 

precedent that would threaten the future functioning of the grand jury system. 
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Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on September 1, 2010. 
 

     /s/  Richard J. Davis__________________ 
     Richard J. Davis 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 

IN RE PETITION OF STANLEY  ) 

KUTLER, et al.     ) 
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     Miscellaneous Action 

 

Declaration of John W. Dean III 

 

I, John W. Dean III, hereby declare as follows: 

     

1. I served as Counsel to the President of the United States (informally “White 

House Counsel”) from 1970-1973, and from 1973-1975 I became the key witness in the 

Watergate-related investigations undertaken by the United States Attorney for the District of 

Columbia, the Watergate Special Prosecution Force, the Select Committee on Presidential 

Campaign Activities of the United States Senate, and the Impeachment Inquiry of President 

Richard Nixon undertaken by the Committee on the Judiciary of the United States House of 

Representatives. Before becoming the government’s key prosecution witness, I pled guilty to 

conspiracy to obstruct justice in connect with my role in the so-called Watergate cover-up. 

2.  I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force, for the reasons set 

forth below. 

3. If there is another living person who has more first-hand knowledge of the events 

described as Watergate than I do, including both those matters that transpired within the Nixon 

White House as well as the work of various investigators and prosecutors, that person is 

unknown to me.  I mention this not to boast, for these are hardly matters about which to brag, 

rather because I believe it is a fact and it is relevant to my understanding of the material sought 

by this petition. In my role as White House Counsel and later as a key witness, I had countless 
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conversations with other members of the Nixon White House staff, the President, and those 

investigating and prosecuting violations of law during the Nixon presidency. Accordingly, I have 

personal knowledge of most of the key events and players related to the Watergate scandal, as 

well as the events that have unfolded in the four decades since. 

4. I have authored several books about Watergate, including Blind Ambition: The 

White House Years (1976, and with a new afterword in 2010), Lost Honor (1982), Unmasking 

Deep Throat (2002), and Worse Than Watergate: The Secret Presidency of George W. Bush 

(2004)─all of which sought to add historical context to as well as an understanding and 

appreciation of the lessons that can be drawn from the most significant and troublesome political 

scandal of the twentieth century. As a New York Times best-selling author and a bi-weekly online 

columnist for FindLaw’s Writ (since 2000)─and evidencing the continuing interest in 

Watergate─I am regularly asked and agree to provide commentary for national radio and 

television shows about Watergate-related events in specific and the presidency in general, and I 

am a something of a regular guest on MSNBC’s Countdown with Keith Olbermann. 

5. After writing my first two books about Watergate, and discussing the subject in 

lecture halls for several years, I lowered my public profile and refused to publicly discuss the 

subject when I became active in business (private mergers and acquisitions). Indeed, I might 

never have again discussed the subject but for the publication of Silent Coup: The Removal of a 

President (St. Martin’s Press 1991). Alerted to the bogus revisionism in the book by 60 Minutes 

and Time magazine (both of which dropped their planned stories on the book after talking with 

me), my wife and I filed a defamation lawsuit that would end up in this Court, first before Judge 

Harold Greene and then Judge Emmet Sullivan: Dean v. St. Martin’s et al. By ignoring the 

public record (investigations by the U.S. Attorney, the Watergate Special Prosecutor, the FBI, 
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and Congress), Silent Coup falsely claimed that I had ordered the Watergate break-ins because 

my girlfriend (now wife) had learned that the Democratic National Committee was using the 

services of a nearby call-girl ring, with which she was falsely accused of being associated. Dean 

v. St. Martin’s Press resulted in my closing my business and devoting all my time to uncovering 

how this bogus story had been concocted during eight years of extensive discovery with much o f 

it into Watergate. When the case arrived in Judge Sullivan’s chambers, he quickly ended the 

defendants’ non-stop discovery and motions practice (which had reportedly cost the defendants’ 

insurance carriers some $14 million). This amount is mentioned to show the extent of the 

discovery, which opened countless files from the Watergate Special Prosecution Force at the 

National Archives and involved the depositions of many Watergate principals almost two 

decades after the events. As a result of the discovery, I spent eight years (between 1991 and 

2000) intensely studying primary and secondary source material relating to Watergate.  By the 

time the case was settled, I knew more about what had happened during Watergate than when I 

was living through the events. 

6. Because of Dean v. St. Martin’s Press, I not only furthered my knowledge and 

understanding of Watergate, but I discovered that when accurate information relating to 

Watergate is not available, those wanting to twist and distort history can do so rather easily. 

While all traumatic events in American history have provoked some revisionism, Watergate has 

produced more than its share of bogus explanations. Unsealing former President Nixon’s 

testimony so that it is part of the public record would make it more difficult for revisionists to 

rewrite history. For this reason, among others, President Nixon’s grand jury testimony is of 

material significance for the historical record. 
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7. Needless to say the precise nature of former President Nixon’s testimony remains 

unknown. Based on the press coverage at the time of Mr. Nixon’s deposition, it appears the 

general subjects explored during the two sessions involved: Mr. Nixon’s knowledge of the 

content of the erased 18.5 minutes on a White House tape of June 20, 1972, and who had caused 

the erasure; his role, if any, in altering transcripts of recorded conversations turned over to the 

House Judiciary Committee during the impeachment inquiry; his role, if any, in using the IRS to 

harass his political enemies, and his involvement, if any, in the $100,000 campaign contribution 

from Howard Hughes to Bebe Rebozo. Although these subjects were extensively investigated by 

the Watergate Special Prosecutors (and the Hughes contribution was also examined by the 

Senate Watergate Committee), these investigations remain publicly incomplete without the 

information from the former president.  These topics were discussed only vaguely in the former 

president’s memoirs. Mr. Nixon’s answers are vital to complete the historical record on these not 

unimportant issues. 

 

8. Currently, I am researching my eleventh non-fiction book, a work that will 

examine why things went so dreadfully wrong in Nixon's presidency. This work will seek to 

assemble information that I believe will be important to historians studying this period, material 

which seems to have been overlooked in the past several decades because it is not easily found in 

the massive record that has emerged relating to the Nixon presidency. Nixon's grand jury 

testimony of June 23 and 24, 1975, along with material prepared by the Watergate Special 

Prosecution Force relating to this grand jury session, would be an invaluable addition to my 

examination of the Department of Justice's pursuit of these matters during this historical period.   
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9. My activities relating to the events associated with Watergate and other matters 

may have been discussed in President Nixon’s grand jury testimony. If that is the case, I have no 

personal objection to disclosure of any such testimony. 

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

 Executed on August [19], 2010. 

 

       /s/ John W. Dean III     

                                                                         _____________________________ 

       John W. Dean III 
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Declaration of David M. Dorsen 

 

I, David M. Dorsen, hereby declare as follows: 

 1. I am Of Counsel to the law firm of Wallace King Domike & Reiskin, 

PLLC. I make this declaration in support of the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of the testimony of President Richard M. Nixon before a grand jury on June 23-

24, 1975, and for the release of related materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution 

Force. 

 2. From April 1973 until November 1974, I was Assistant Chief Counsel of 

the Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities, popularly known as 

the Senate Watergate Committee. Before that, between 1964 and 1969, I was an Assistant 

United States Attorney in the Southern District of New York working under United 

States Attorney Robert M. Morgenthau. 

3. The role assigned by the Senate to the Select Committee was to investigate 

all aspects of the 1972 presidential election. Among the areas investigated by the 

Committee and its staff was the break-in of the Democratic National Committee 

Headquarters in June 1972; illegal campaign contributions, including the so-called milk 

fund where people involved in the dairy industry made illegal contributions to Nixon’s 

campaign; “dirty tricks” performed by Republican aides to the campaign and the White 

House; financial transactions between Nixon and members of his family and Howard 



 2 

Hughes; the cover-up that implicated Nixon and his top aides, and other questionable 

activities.  In the course of the Committee’s investigation we discovered that Nixon was 

surreptitiously recording his conversations in the White House and elsewhere.  The 

disclosure of these recordings led to the release of the recordings, which have largely 

been made public both in their original form and by way of transcripts. 

4. Following the investigation, the Committee issued a comprehensive 

report, which was made public. The Committee also released to the public virtually all of 

its files, with narrow exceptions for certain classified material or other matter that could 

prejudice national security, such as confidential CIA files. Thus, scholars of the period 

have had access to a broad range of material relating to one of the great crises in 

American government. 

5. One of the few areas closed off to scholars and the American public was 

the grand jury testimony of Nixon, whose role in the scandal continues to be of great 

interest and importance. I can say this on the basis of experience beyond my role on the 

Senate Watergate Committee. 

6. Between 1995 and 2002, I taught at the Terry Sanford Institute for Public 

Policy at Duke University an undergraduate seminar that I created that was entitled, 

“Governmental Crises and the Legal System.” The core of the seminar was the role 

played by courts, the grand jury, criminal prosecutions, civil actions, and congressional 

investigation in Watergate (although a smaller portion of the seminar was devoted to 

other governmental scandals, such as Iran-Contra under President Reagan). The role of 

the grand jury was an integral part of the process and, for example, I presented a clip of 

an interview of the foreman of the grand jury that indicted Nixon’s top aides and named 
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him as an unindicted co-conspirator. That Nixon was brought to testify before a grand 

jury and what he was asked and what he said are an important part not only of the 

Watergate story, but of the lesson that no one is above the law. 

7. For the past nearly five years I have been working effectively full time on 

a biography of Judge Henry J. Friendly (1903-86) of the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Second Circuit. Judge Friendly was a judge who respected privacy and was 

reluctant to release matters that might somehow harm the functions of government or 

invade legitimate privacy interests. For example, in the so-called Pentagon Papers case, 

which was heard in the Second Circuit before the Supreme Court, he voted against the 

immediate release of the documents. 

8. Nevertheless, when Judge Friendly saw what he believed was an 

important and necessary disclosure, he vigorously supported that disclosure. The 

strongest example involved the grand-jury testimony of Mario Biaggi, a candidate for 

mayor of New York City, who lied when he stated publicly that he had not pleaded the 

Fifth Amendment before a grand jury. Judge Friendly wrote the opinion for the court 

authorizing release of that testimony. In re Biaggi, 478 F.2d 489 (2d Cir. 1973). Whether 

coincidentally or not I do not know, but his opinion is dated May 4, 1973, the same 

month as when the Senate Watergate Committee began its public hearings. 

9. Both for historical reasons and for the important task of educating the 

public about the consequences of official misconduct, it is essential that the sworn 

testimony of Nixon be released.  Only in this way can the full account of a major event in 

the country’s history be known and understood. 
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Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing 

is true and correct. 

Executed in Washington, DC, on August 13, 2010. 

           /s/ David Dorsen                          

       David M. Dorsen 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

IN RE PETITION OF STANLEY  ) 

KUTLER, et al.    ) 

                                                                        ) 

 

 

     Miscellaneous Action 

  

 

Declaration of Mark Feldstein 

 

I, Mark Feldstein, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am an Associate Professor of Media and Public Affairs at The George 

Washington University. I teach courses in media history, the history of investigative journalism, 

and reporting and writing news. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition 

to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on 

June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I graduated with honors in Government from Harvard and received a doctorate in 

Journalism and Mass Communication from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. I 

have written numerous articles about journalism history and the law for peer-reviewed academic 

journals and professional publications, ranging from the Harvard International Journal of Press 

and Politics and News Media and the Law to the Washington Post and Chicago Tribune to the 

Encyclopedia of Journalism and Communication Law and Policy. My academic scholarship has 

won top awards for historical research from the American Journalism Historians Association and 

the Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication. 

3. Before joining academia, I worked for twenty years as an investigative reporter at 

CNN, NBC News, ABC News, and local television stations, where I earned dozens of journalism 

awards for my reporting, including the Edward R. Murrow broadcasting prize, the DuPont-

Columbia award, and two George Foster Peabody medallions. 
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4. I am frequently quoted as an expert on media issues by the New York Times, 

Washington Post, NPR, and CNN, as well as the Wall Street Journal, PBS, C-SPAN, the BBC, 

Fox News, Al-Jazeera, and dozens of other news outlets throughout the world. I have also 

lectured on journalism history, media law, and related topics at American University Washington 

College of Law, Duke University, Georgetown University, Hofstra Law School, the University 

of Istanbul (Turkey), the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor), Northeastern University, the 

University of Oslo (Norway), the University of Texas (Austin), and Washington and Lee 

University, as well as the FBI training academy at Quantico, Virginia, the State Department, and 

other law, government, and journalism organizations in the U.S. and abroad. 

5. I have specialized in the history of the Watergate scandal and am widely 

considered the nation’s leading academic authority on media coverage of President Richard 

Nixon, which is the focus of my forthcoming 480-page book, Poisoning the Press: Richard 

Nixon, Jack Anderson, and the Rise of Washington’s Scandal Culture, which will be published 

by Farrar, Straus and Giroux in September 2010. My other scholarship on Watergate and the 

news media includes the following articles: “Watergate Revisited,” American Journalism Review, 

v. 26, no. 4 (Aug./Sept. 2004):  60-67; “Media Coverage and a Federal Grand Jury: Publication of 

the Secret Watergate Transcripts (1973),” American Journalism, v. 24, no. 2 (Spring 2007): 7-33; 

“Fighting Quakers: The 1950s Battle Between Richard Nixon and Columnist Drew Pearson,” 

Journalism History, v. 30, no. 2 (Summer 2004): 76-90; and “The Jailing of a Journalist: 

Prosecuting the Press for Possession of Stolen Government Documents,” Communication Law 

and Policy, v. 10, no. 2 (Spring 2005), 137-77. 

6. In 2006, I testified as an expert witness before the Senate Judiciary Committee 

about the importance of preserving historical archives involving the Watergate scandal. I have 
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also provided testimony in various media law cases as an expert witness, plaintiff, and defendant, 

and have filed dozens of Freedom of Information Act requests—including numerous appeals—

with the federal government to declassify records about President Nixon and Watergate. 

7. In my professional judgment, it is astounding that the 35-year-old transcript of 

President Nixon’s grand jury testimony still remains sealed and unavailable to scholars, 

journalists and the public. No ongoing law enforcement investigations are underway. No 

corporate trade secrets are at risk. No obvious privacy concerns present themselves given the 

long-ago death of Nixon and most of the other people from that era who might be mentioned in 

the late President’s testimony. And any possible threat to national security that potentially could 

be caused by revealing sources and methods—an extraordinarily unlikely possibility given how 

much time has elapsed—could easily be dealt with by precise and modest redactions. 

8. I am acutely aware of the importance of Rule 6(e) and the vital need to uphold the 

Constitution’s Sixth Amendment attempt to guarantee fairness in criminal trials. As I wrote in 

one scholarly publication, “Grand jury secrecy is designed to protect the rights of innocent 

people who may unfairly come under suspicion by prosecutors but ultimately are not charged. 

Secrecy can also help encourage witnesses to testify without fear of publicity and can prevent 

criminal targets from fleeing or destroying evidence, or intimidating or silencing witnesses.”
1
 

But in the case of Nixon’s sealed grand jury testimony, these legitimate concerns have been 

rendered moot by the passage of time. So, too, there seems to be an inexplicable double standard 

that has led to the release of a great deal of other once-sealed grand jury testimony from 

Watergate—except for that of the late President himself, the most public figure of that era whose 

                                                           
1
 Mark Feldstein, Media Coverage and a Federal Grand Jury: Publication of the Secret 

Watergate Transcripts (1973), 24 American Journalism 10 (Spring 2007). 
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testimony by definition is of more import and interest than any other person involved in that 

affair. 

9. More than three decades ago, the news media revealed much of the key 

information contained in such testimony. As long ago as April 1973, columnist Jack Anderson 

obtained hundreds of pages of verbatim transcripts of the still-secret Watergate grand jury 

testimony and published extensive excerpts from them in seven columns over a week-long 

period, disseminating them to more 40 million readers in nearly one thousand newspapers around 

the country. Ever since then, for better or for worse, leaks of grand jury testimony to news outlets 

have become standard fare across the country.
2
 In these circumstances, to maintain the seal on 

the testimony of President Nixon, the most important actor in the Watergate scandal, not only is 

nonsensical; it reinforces the notion that the President is still somehow above the law, the very 

issue at the heart of the scandal that led to Nixon’s downfall in the first place. 

10. In my professional judgment, any possible Sixth Amendment concerns still 

lingering from the late President’s 1975 grand jury testimony are significantly outweighed by the 

First Amendment rights of the press and public to know and discuss Nixon’s testimony. The 

issues at stake in this testimony remain of vital interest to historians, journalists, and the public in 

order to understand the complete Watergate narrative. Despite the passage of time, the 

importance of the Watergate crisis is difficult to overstate, not only in American political history 

but also in contemporary journalism. Journalism professors across the nation regularly teach 

students about the role of Washington Post reporters Bob Woodward and Carl Bernstein 

                                                           
2
 Ironically, in the Watergate case, the real-time leaks of ongoing grand jury testimony 

arguably strengthened rather than weakened the Sixth Amendment goal of fairness in 

prosecutions because the Nixon administration had effectively corrupted the grand jury process 

in a criminal conspiracy to obstruct justice; thus the leaks to the news media served to strengthen 

rather than weaken judicial integrity by helping to thwart the Watergate cover-up. Feldstein, 

Media Coverage at 7-33. 
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uncovering the scandal that brought down Nixon even while scholars continue to debate the 

media’s true role and historical legacy during that time.
3
 Politicians and pundits routinely affix 

the Watergate-inspired appellation of “-gate” on the numerous subsequent scandals that have 

occurred—Iran-gate, Travel-gate, File-gate, Iraq-gate, Katrina-gate, to name just a few—and 

predictably compare contemporary scandals with the mother of them all: Watergate. The growth 

of contemporary investigative reporting, the rise of independent special prosecutors, legislation 

to reform campaign financing and enact government ethics codes—all trace their roots to the 

only scandal in American history that caused a president to resign. “Nixon’s downfall,” President 

Clinton’s defense attorney argued after his own “Monica-gate” scandal led to impeachment, 

“served as the touchstone for the scandal machine that followed,” an interlocking symbiotic 

relationship between government investigators and the journalists to whom they leaked 

information.
4
 Accurate or not, this belief is widely shared—and debated—in Washington and 

around the country, renewed every time another political scandal makes headlines. 

11. The specific details of President Nixon’s secret grand jury testimony continue to 

have relevance today. Admittedly, it is impossible to know exactly what the late President stated 

in this testimony because it is still sealed; but according to author Seymour Hersh, “in 1975, 

during his secret grand jury testimony to the Watergate Special Prosecution Force, he [Nixon] 

                                                           
3
 See, for example, Michael Schudson, Watergate in American Memory: How We 

Remember, Forget, and Reconstruct the Past (1993); Louis W. Liebovich, Richard Nixon, 

Watergate, and the Press (2003); Joseph C. Spear, Presidents and the Press: The Nixon Legacy 

(1984); Gladys Engel Lang and Kurt Lang, The Battle for Public Opinion: The President, the 

Press, and the Polls During Watergate (1983); David Greenberg, Nixon’s Shadow: The History 

of an Image (2003); Mark Feldstein, Poisoning the Press: Richard Nixon, Jack Anderson, and 

the Rise of Washington’s Scandal Culture (2010); Stanley I. Kutler, The Wars of Watergate: The 

Last Crisis of Richard Nixon at 190, 459, 649 (1990); Edward Jay Epstein, Between Fact and 

Fiction: The Problem of Journalism at 19-33 (1975); Paul Johnson, Modern Times: A History of 

the World from the 1920s to the Year 2000 at 649-51 (1999). 

 
4
 Feldstein, Poisoning the Press, supra, at 359; Lanny Davis, Scandal: How “Gotcha” 

Politics Is Destroying America at 6 (2004). 
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shocked the lawyers by insisting that the United States had come ‘close to nuclear war’ during 

the [1971] India-Pakistan dispute.”
5
 This quotation has repeatedly been cited since then in 

debates not only about Nixon’s policy during the 1971 India-Pakistan War but also about the 

effect of that policy on current US relations with India and Pakistan, a vital subject given the 

ongoing US war against terrorism there.
6
 

12. The fact that author Seymour Hersh already made public a partial quotation from 

Nixon’s secret grand jury testimony underscores a crucial reason for the release of the entirety of 

this transcript: to verify the authenticity and context of this important claim that Nixon 

“threatened to go to nuclear war with the Russians”
7
 during the India-Pakistan conflict of 1971. 

What subject could possibly be of more fundamental interest to the American people than 

decisions made in secret that potentially could have led to an atomic holocaust? And if this 

dramatic quotation is inaccurate or incomplete, Nixon’s historical reputation has been unfairly 

tarnished and deserves correction not only to set the record straight but also to make sure that 

contemporary policymakers do not draw incorrect lessons from the last major American military 

involvement in Pakistan while they decide how to prosecute our ongoing war against terrorism 

there. 

13. For all of these reasons stated above, I strongly urge the Court to unseal President 

Nixon’s June 23-24, 1975 grand jury testimony and all other related materials. Anything less 

                                                           
5
 Seymour M. Hersh, The Price of Power: Kissinger in the Nixon White House at 457 

(1983). 

 
6
 Dennis Kux, India and the United States: Estranged Democracies, 1941–1991 at 306-

07 (1992); William Bundy, A Tangled Web: The Making of Foreign Policy in the Nixon 

Presidency at 288-91 (1998); Feldstein, Poisoning the Press, supra, at 173. 

 
7
 Hersh, supra, at 457. 
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serves to continue the Watergate cover-up that so darkened our nation’s political system a 

generation ago. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August [15], 2010. 

 

       /s/ Mark Feldstein    

       Mark Feldstein 
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Declaration of Don Fulsom 

 

I, Don Fulsom, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a freelance writer, editor, and researcher.  I submit this declaration to support 

the above-captioned petition to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony 

before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate 

Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I was formerly a White House correspondent for United Press International (UPI), 

and a UPI bureau chief in Washington, DC. I have written about President Nixon for the 

Washington Post, Chicago Tribune, Esquire, and Los Angeles Times.   

3. Currently, I am an adjunct professor of government at American University, 

where I teach a course entitled Watergate: A Constitutional Crisis.  I am also writing a book 

titled Nixon’s Greatest Secrets.  Scheduled for publication by Thomas Dunne Books in 2011, the 

book has already been previewed by the Washington Post’s “Political Bookworm” Blog. See 

Steven Levingston, Nixon Book Coming Next Year Claims to Dig up Fresh Secrets from 

National Archives Documents and Tapes, http://voices.washingtonpost.com/political-bookworm/ 

2010/03/nixon_book_coming_next_year_ cl.html.  Because his grand jury testimony is one of 

Nixon’s major remaining secrets, the unsealing of that testimony could provide important fresh 

material for all journalists and historians, as well as for this particular book.  

4. As the political correspondent for Crime Magazine—an online publication backed 

by bookseller Amazon.com—I have authored a number of articles about Nixon and Watergate 
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under the topic “Nixon’s Crimes,” available at http://crimemagazine.com/taxonomy/term/5.  The 

unsealing of Nixon’s secret testimony might well disclose significant new information on topics 

covered in these articles.  This new information would help to educate today’s citizens about a 

crucial event in American political history, as well as current and future students of American 

history.  

5.  For example, one of the above articles deals in particular with billionaire Howard 

Hughes’s $100,000 contribution to the President through Nixon’s best friend Charles Gregory 

“Bebe” Rebozo.  Nixon bagman Rebozo accepted the Hughes cash—in two deliveries at two 

highly secure locations—the Florida and California White Houses.  In my article “What 

Watergate Was All About,” April 15, 2007 (http://www.crimemagazine.com/what-watergate-

was-all-about), I present only the most widely accepted theory about the Hughes contribution 

and its role in motivating the Watergate break-in.  But the motivation for the break-in—the 

why—remains the subject of debate today, nearly 40 years later.  President Nixon’s answers to 

grand jury questions could help nail down the likely motive, or motives. 

6. Like many students of Watergate, I am convinced that the June 17, 1972 break-in at 

the Democratic National Committee was intended mainly to repair a faulty bug that the burglars 

had installed, weeks earlier, on the telephone of DNC Chairman Larry O’Brien.  The President 

was frantic to get political dirt on O’Brien, and he also desperately wanted to know what dirt 

Larry might have on him.  In particular, Nixon wanted to know whether O’Brien knew about the 

apparent political payoff of $100,000 to Nixon from Hughes.   

 7. Rebozo later told Senate Watergate Committee investigators that the money was a 

campaign contribution that Nixon did not know about and that he, Rebozo, had not yet delivered 

to any campaign organization. In the end, Rebozo failed to cooperate fully with the Senate panel.  
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He refused to deliver specified records, and—at one late point in the probe—Rebozo fled the 

country to avoid further questioning.  As I wrote in my article, one of the IRS investigators 

assigned to the Rebozo case, Andy Baruffi, later revealed:  “We had Rebozo primarily on a 

straight up-and-down provable false statement charge.  It was a dead-bang case.  I believe a deal 

was made with the White House to kill the investigation.”  Rebozo was never prosecuted. 

 8. Nixon’s personal lawyer Herb Kalmbach told investigators that the Hughes money was 

split among Nixon’s brothers, Donald and Edward, and Rose Mary Woods, the President’s 

longtime personal secretary.  

         9.  Chief committee investigator Terry Lenzner concluded that the cash was a bribe to 

purchase influence on two federal cases involving Hughes-owned businesses.  As discussed in 

my article, Lenzner later stressed that he is “absolutely certain” the Hughes money played a role 

in the President’s desire to find out as much as possible about O’Brien. 

         10.  Burglary supervisor G. Gordon Liddy once expressed a similar belief—saying the 

break-in was “to find out what O’Brien had of a derogatory nature about us, not for us to get 

something on him or the Democrats.”  G. Gordon Liddy, Will: The Autobiography of G. Gordon 

Liddy 237 (1980).  Liddy now believes in one of the most curious revisionist theories of the 

break-in—that it was orchestrated by White House counsel John Dean to conceal his girlfriend’s 

links to a call-girl ring supposedly used by the Democratic National Committee.  Perhaps 

Nixon’s testimony will jibe with Liddy’s new take.  Or put such notions to rest. 

 11. During his presidency, Nixon was totally silent on the $100,000 Hughes contribution. 

His sworn testimony could be key to unlocking a number of mysteries about the Hughes-Rebozo 

connection. 
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  12. In a more general way, Nixon’s testimony might fill many gaps and connect 

important dots in the Watergate saga, and thus contribute to existing and future scholarship about 

America’s greatest political scandal.  After all, Watergate involved a vast web of criminality that 

forced a president to resign in disgrace and sent 25 of his top aides to prison.  Unsealing Nixon’s 

testimony might, in some way, even assist us in finding ways to avoid such abuses of presidential 

power in the future. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on July 28, 2010. 

 

          /s/ Don Fulsom    

       Don Fulsom 
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Declaration of David Greenberg 

 

I, David Greenberg, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am an Associate Professor of Journalism and Media Studies and of History at 

Rutgers University, where I teach courses in The American Presidency, History of Media and 

Government, and Recent U.S. History. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned 

petition to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand 

jury on June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I research and write extensively on American history and politics and contribute 

to popular and scholarly forums. Among my particular areas of expertise are Richard Nixon’s 

career and presidency, which I have studied for more than twenty years. My undergraduate 

thesis, which won Yale University’s Walker Prize for a thesis in American history, dealt with 

Nixon and the antiwar movement, and my work in journalism involved serving as Bob 

Woodward’s assistant on The Agenda: Inside the Clinton White House (Simon & Schuster, 

1994). My doctoral dissertation (Columbia University, 2001) was published by W.W. Norton & 

Co. as Nixon’s Shadow: The History of an Image in 2003, and was widely and favorably 

reviewed in both popular and scholarly publications. It won Columbia University’s Bancroft 

Dissertation Prize, the American Journalism Historians Association book award and the 

Washington Monthly book award. It appears on many college and graduate syllabi. I have also 

written other scholarly articles and book chapters about Nixon both in academic journals and 

collections (including chapters in Nixon in the World: American Foreign Policy, 1969-1977, 
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published by Oxford University Press in 2008; Watergate and the Resignation of Richard Nixon, 

published by CQ Press, 2004; and A Companion to Richard Nixon, Melvin Small, ed., Blackwell 

Reference, forthcoming in 2011). I have also written on the subject of Nixon for the New York 

Times, the Washington Post, Slate magazine and other respected journalistic publications. My 

work on Nixon has earned me invitations to speak at conferences and symposia, including most 

recently to keynote a conference on Nixon at Oxford University. I have won several academic 

awards, including the ACLS Frederick Burkhardt Fellowship, the Woodrow Wilson Center 

Fellowship, the Hiett Prize in the Humanities, and various prizes and grants awarded internally at 

Rutgers University. 

3. I believe it is very important for the sake of historical knowledge that Richard 

Nixon’s grand jury testimony from the Watergate trials be unsealed. For many reasons, 

Watergate remains one of the most important events in American history. It was the greatest 

constitutional crisis in American history since the Civil War, the most serious abuse of 

presidential power and the only one that led to a president’s resignation, and a transformative 

event that remade American politics. It contributed significantly to the decline of public trust in 

the president and in government, to the concern among journalists with scandal and high-level 

wrongdoing, and to a political culture of partisan antagonism and retribution. Watergate and 

Nixon’s name remain synonymous with presidential corruption and crime. For thirty-five years 

the “-gate” suffix has been routinely attached to scandals large and small, attesting to 

Watergate’s continuing cultural importance. Although there were many other important aspects 

of Nixon’s presidency, virtually all historical overviews of his presidency begin with Watergate.  

4. Unsealing Nixon’s testimony is essential, most obviously, because Richard Nixon 

was the central figure in the Watergate scandal. When President Gerald Ford pardoned Nixon in 
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September 1974, many Americans objected strenuously. One reason was that they did not think 

the president should be “above the law”; they believed Nixon should be subject to the justice 

system just as his aides had been. A second reason many people wanted Nixon to go on trial was 

to place him on the record, under oath, answering questions and speaking more fully on a deeply 

important subject that, as president, he had regularly misled the public about. Although we 

cannot know if Nixon was truthful in his grand jury testimony, there is the potential that he 

revealed significant information or opinions that he never otherwise disclosed. At a minimum, 

historians should be able to scrutinize this testimony to find discrepancies or corroboration with 

other statements made by Nixon and other key Watergate players. 

5. A second, if related, reason for unsealing the testimony is that Watergate is 

actually provoking renewed interest among historians. Watergate, of course, refers not simply to 

the break-ins at the hotel and office complex that began Nixon’s undoing; it has become 

shorthand for the whole panoply of what Nixon’s Attorney General John N. Mitchell called 

“White House horrors.” For many years, following Nixon’s resignation, a series of books and 

memoirs about Watergate seemed to satisfy public interest in the subject. In the 1990s, scholars 

studying Nixon tended more often to examine his domestic policies. That the new historical 

documents from Nixon’s administration that were being opened up to historians included a great 

deal of material on under-explored domestic policies—partly because the Nixon Estate was 

keeping political material off limits—was another reason that historians concentrated their 

energies there. But in the last decade, the pendulum has swung back in the other direction. Many 

aspects of the Bush administration’s political behavior struck historians and journalists as 

resembling Nixon’s, and there was a resurgence of books that looked at Nixon’s political 

strategizing, including Watergate, such as Robert Mason’s Richard Nixon and the Quest for a 



 4 

New Majority and Rick Perlstein’s Nixonland. The popularity of the play and motion picture 

Frost/Nixon further underscored this trend. The success of the play, which is about Nixon’s 

effort in 1977 to rehabilitate himself by submitting to a series of interviews with British 

television personality David Frost, showed a continuing public interest (in Britain as well as the 

United States) in such issues as Watergate, Nixon’s battle for his reputation, and the questions of 

presidential power and its abuse that were central to Watergate. The play’s biggest “laugh 

line”—which, in the performance I saw, triggered what is best described as nervous laughter—

was Nixon’s famous statement that “When the president does it, that means that it is not illegal.” 

In short, these subjects are arguably of even greater public and professional interest than they 

have been in quite some time. 

6. A third reason that historians and the public would benefit from the unsealing of 

Nixon’s testimony is that the testimony may answer, or help to answer, lingering mysteries about 

Watergate. For example, it is not known whether Nixon authorized the Watergate break-in or 

knew about it in advance. Although the evidence is not conclusive, there is good reason to think 

that he did. He is known to have told his aides to commit other burglaries, such as at the 

Brookings Institution (which was never carried out) and to have involved himself closely in the 

kind of political skullduggery of which Watergate was a part. In his memoirs he wrote that he 

saw nothing wrong with such burglaries. On June 20, 1972, discussing the recent arrest of the 

Watergate burglars, he said, on tape, “My God, the committee isn’t worth bugging, in my 

opinion. That’s my public line”—implying that his private belief was different. One of the key 

figures in the Watergate scandal, Jeb Stuart Magruder, has said that Nixon did authorize the 

break-in, while others denied this. Unsealing Nixon’s grand jury testimony would provide 

additional evidence on this historical question. 
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7. In addition to the question of Nixon’s foreknowledge of the Watergate break-ins, 

his unsealed testimony might help to answer other questions. For one thing, historians still debate 

the exact motives for the initial Watergate break-in and what precisely the White House burglars 

were seeking to find out. Was it something specific, such as having to do with the relationship 

between tycoon Howard Hughes and Democratic National Chairman Larry O’Brien? Or was it a 

more general “fishing expedition” in search of anything that might be used against the 

Democrats in the 1972 campaign—or anything that the Democrats might be planning to use 

against Nixon? Second, what was on the famous 18½-minute gap, on a key White House tape 

recording, that was determined to have been deliberately created? Third, how far and wide did 

Nixon’s other abuses of presidential power range? To the extent that Nixon addressed questions 

such as his abuse of executive agencies such as the FBI, CIA, and IRS, his grand jury testimony 

could meaningfully enhance and enrich the historical record. It might well help to round out our 

understanding of Nixon and Watergate. 

8. A fourth reason that unsealing the testimony is important is that there have been 

efforts over the years to distort the historical record, and Nixon’s own testimony could help to 

counter such efforts. Some of these efforts were led by Nixon himself, his aides, and his estate; 

others were taken up by friendly journalists. The burden of their argument is that Nixon was a 

more-or-less innocent victim, who may have crossed a few ethical lines but overall did nothing 

that other presidents hadn’t also done. They suggest that Nixon was subject to a double standard 

by the news media, which always was out to get him, and was railroaded from office by 

opportunistic Democrats. Their efforts included the creation of a mendacious exhibit at what 

used to be a privately funded and privately run Nixon Library in Yorba Linda, California, that 

grossly misrepresented the Watergate scandal. To cite but one example, the exhibit implied that 
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Democrats wished to oust Nixon in order to orchestrate a coup d’état and put their own party in 

power—when in fact Democrats and Republicans alike deliberately waited until another 

Republican, Gerald Ford, was confirmed as vice president before undertaking impeachment 

proceedings. Fortunately, when the National Archives and the Nixon Library reached an 

agreement to bring the privately owned Library under federal control, the agreement allowed a 

new, non-partisan, federally appointed director of the library, historian Timothy J. Naftali, to 

remove the old exhibit and replace it with a more historically accurate one. Nonetheless, people 

associated with the old Nixon Library, as well as former Nixon White House officials, continue 

to promote a dishonest and misleading account of the Watergate affair. 

9. Some longstanding Nixon partisans, along with other freelance authors, have 

promoted even more fanciful claims about Watergate that resemble the well-known conspiracy 

theories about the Kennedy assassination, the moon landing, Pearl Harbor, or even the Holocaust 

in that they weave elaborate and sinister theories about hidden histories behind the familiar 

public accounts. The most popular of these theories holds that Nixon was the victim of back-to-

back, unrelated secret plots—the first by his White House Counsel John Dean, who wanted to 

conceal his wife’s supposed history as a call girl, the second by White House Chief of Staff Al 

Haig, who supposedly fronted a military cabal upset about Nixon’s moves toward détente with 

the Soviet Union. In Nixon's Shadow, I refer to the people who promote these bizarre theories as 

Watergate Deniers—for just as the fringe figures who have developed a small cottage industry 

devoted to the claim that the Holocaust never happened are more properly called “deniers” than 

“revisionists” (a term that bestows legitimacy in professional historians’ eyes), so the Watergate 

conspiracy theorists argue that history—or, as they would have it, “official” history—is a lie. 

They have built their case on faulty logic and tenuous evidence, and yet have argued with 
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enough passion and relentlessness to win themselves a hearing in mainstream forums—

particularly when they are able to get naïve or relatively ignorant students, journalists, or public 

authorities to entertain their claims. Although I don’t believe that the unsealing of Nixon’s 

testimony would disabuse these people of their fantasies—conspiracy theories, by definition, can 

always explain away inconvenient facts—I do believe, regardless of what Nixon said in his 

testimony, it will serve as a bulwark against the falsification of history. 

10. A final consideration is that Richard Nixon, for all his prominence, was one of the 

most enigmatic public figures of the 20th century, and this testimony would shed light on the 

important question of who he was. From almost his first days as a national political figure, the 

literature on Nixon has been shot through with discussions of his secretive and impenetrable 

nature. The terms “the real Nixon” and “the new Nixon” became part of the common vocabulary, 

reflecting the public uncertainty as to his true self. Nixon was the subject of a record number of 

psychoanalytic biographies, with many of his interpreters reflecting on what the historian Bruce 

Mazlish, one of his first biographers to use an explicitly psychological approach, called 

“disturbing speculation about who the ‘real’ Nixon is.” Uncovering the real Nixon became the 

raison d’être of biographies and profiles bearing the titles In Search of Nixon, The Nixon Nobody 

Knows, Richard Nixon: The Man Behind the Mask, and The Real Nixon. The reasons for Nixon’s 

inscrutability are many and complicated. Some have to do with his personality, which was 

naturally introverted and not given to public disclosure. Others have to do with his deliberate 

efforts to conceal information from the American public, as seen in his frequent claims of 

executive privilege during the Watergate investigations and his post-presidential lawsuits to 

block the release of tapes and papers. Although in an existential sense the “mystery” of Richard 

Nixon can never be truly solved—no historical figure ever becomes completely accessible and 
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transparent to historians—his grand jury testimony remains one of the most important 

outstanding statements he made about the most important episode in his life. I believe that it 

ought to be made available for historians and the public to see. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on July [30], 2010. 

 

       /s/ David Greenberg     

       David Greenberg 
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Declaration of Kenneth J. Hughes, Jr. 

 

I, Kenneth J. Hughes, Jr., hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force.   

2. I am currently the Nixon Tapes Project Editor with the Presidential Recordings 

Program (PRP) of the Miller Center of Public Affairs at the University of Virginia. I joined the 

PRP on August 25, 2000, as a full-time researcher working on the largest collection of 

presidential recordings, Richard M. Nixon’s secretly recorded White House tapes. Subsequently, 

in addition to conducting my own research on the tapes, I coordinated the work of other scholars 

on preparing transcripts of these tapes for publication. The program makes presidential 

recordings accessible to scholars, teachers, researchers, and citizens by transcribing them and 

providing the necessary historical background to understanding these historic conversations.  

3. Prior to joining the University of Virginia, I wrote several articles on Nixon’s 

abuse of the powers of the presidency. “Nixon: Still the One,” published in the August 24, 1997, 

New York Times Magazine, proved that Nixon offered a blanket pardon to his top aides before 

they testified in the Senate Watergate investigation. “The Tapes That Destroyed Nixon,” 

published on the op-ed page of the December 6, 1997, Washington Post, related an unsuccessful 

attempt by Nixon to persuade his chief of staff to remove the tapes from the White House and 

destroy them. In the April 1997 issue of the American Journalism Review, I wrote about Nixon’s 
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attempt to use the IRS and the Immigration and Naturalization Service against the publisher of 

the Los Angeles Times. “Nixon Tapes Reveal ’73 Plan to Audit Congress,” published in The Hill 

on April 16, 1997, showed Nixon’s interest in retaliating against congressional critics with IRS 

audits and derogatory information collected by the State Department. Since joining the 

Presidential Recordings Program, I have written about Nixon’s abuses of presidential power on 

the History News Network (“How Paranoid Was Nixon?”, Aug. 13, 2007, 

http://hnn.us/articles/41698.html, and “Nixon vs. the Imaginary ‘Jewish Cabal’”, Sept. 24, 2007, 

http://hnn.us/articles/42970.html) as well as the program’s web site (“A Rough Guide to Richard 

Nixon’s Conspiracy Theories,” Sept. 24, 2007, http://whitehousetapes.net/exhibit/rough-guide-

richard-nixons-conspiracy-theories). 

4. The issues involved in the Watergate case are profoundly important to the 

functioning of a constitutional republic. Richard Nixon abused the powers of the office of 

President of the United States. Long before the break-in at the headquarters of the Democratic 

National Committee in the Watergate apartment and office complex, Nixon used the 

investigative powers of the federal government for political gain. For example, he created a 

Special Investigations Unit that operated outside the law and did political dirty work under the 

cover of protecting national security. Because Nixon resigned the presidency rather than face 

impeachment and removal from office and accepted a full pardon for his crimes, he deprived the 

nation of the chance to fully resolve the constitutional and legal issues raised by his abuses. By 

conspiring in a criminal cover-up to obstruct the investigation of his abuses, he further deprived 

citizens of the means to hold an elected official accountable for them. Following his resignation, 

he engaged in a lifelong and partly successful campaign to impede the release of tapes and 

written documents substantiating these abuses. 
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5. The historical importance of, and public interest in, the collection of abuses of 

power covered by the umbrella term of Watergate are great and widely recognized. The 

Watergate investigations riveted the nation in 1973 and 1974. They resulted in the criminal 

convictions of a large number of high government officials and the resignation of a President. 

Watergate has remained relevant throughout the years, as is evidenced by the frequent affixing of 

the suffix “-gate” to the scandals of the day. Richard Nixon’s role in the scandal was central, but 

remains controversial. Release of his grand jury testimony would remove a no-longer necessary 

veil of secrecy from an important part of the record and thereby help dispel the myths that 

government secrecy engenders. 

6. Of great interest to both the general public and scholars is the former President’s 

testimony regarding the notorious 18½-minute gap on tape 342 recorded at 11:26 A.M. on June 

20, 1972, in the “Executive Office of the President,” also known as Nixon’s “hideaway” office in 

the building next to the White House (conversation 342-16). This was the first tape-recorded 

conversation between the President and his chief of staff, H.R. “Bob” Haldeman following their 

return to the White House from Key Biscayne, Florida, where they had learned of the June 17, 

1972, arrest of the Watergate burglars. Haldeman’s handwritten notes of the meeting establish 

that the missing section of the conversation dealt with Watergate, and tape experts determined 

that the gap was caused by manually recording over that section of the tape at least five times. 

(See “The EOB Tape of June 20, 1972: Report on a Technical Investigation Conducted for the 

U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia by the Advisory Panel on White House Tapes, 

May 31, 1974,” available at http://www.aes.org/aeshc/docs/forensic.audio/watergate.tapes.report 

.pdf.). In the decades since the erasure, experts have been unable to reconstitute the conversation 
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that took place between Nixon and Haldeman. Nixon’s sworn grand jury testimony therefore 

remains a crucial piece of evidence regarding the development of the Watergate cover-up. 

7. In addition, Nixon’s testimony will advance current and future historical 

scholarship by providing a benchmark for comparison with his unsworn statements to the 

American people regarding Watergate and with the record of his contemporaneous tapes and 

related documents. 

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August [10], 2010. 

 

       /s/ Kenneth J. Hughes, Jr.   

       Kenneth J. Hughes, Jr. 
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Declaration of Thomas Long 

 

I, Thomas Long, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I am Assistant Professor of History at California State University, San 

Bernardino. My research and teaching interests are in the fields of United States political, legal 

and constitutional history. I am co-editor of Watergate and the Resignation of Richard Nixon: 

Impact of a Constitutional Crisis (2004), a volume that includes my essay, White House Crisis 

Management, as well as my analysis on several historical documents relating to Watergate and 

the U.S. Constitution. I am also co-author, with John Dean, of the forthcoming book Getting the 

Truth Out: The Watergate Cover-up Trial (forthcoming 2012), co-author of Recent America: 

United States History, 1945 to Present (forthcoming December 2010), and author of three 

articles in U.S. Justice System: An Encyclopedia (2010): “Watergate”, “President Richard 

Nixon,” and “Judge John Sirica.” 

3. Over the past 13 years, I have conducted extensive research on Watergate. I 

interviewed primary Watergate figures and reviewed documents at the National Archives in 

College Park, Maryland, and the Nixon Presidential Library in Yorba Linda, California. This 

exhaustive research, buttressed with a comprehensive reading of the extensive literature on both 

President Nixon and Watergate, has given me an exceptionally strong command of Watergate 
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and President Nixon as historical subjects and, consequently, a strong understanding of the gaps 

that exist in the scholarship and documentation on Watergate. The most significant of these gaps 

lies with the absence of any public knowledge of Richard Nixon’s Watergate grand jury 

testimony. 

4. Watergate was the most significant constitutional crisis that the United States 

faced since the Civil War. Watergate was also the greatest challenge to the constitutional 

concepts of separation of powers between the three branches of government—their respective 

responsibilities of oversight connected to the system of checks and balances established by the 

founding fathers and framers of the constitution as well as the traditional American 

understanding that no man or woman is above the law. Although the federal government, the 

nation, and the constitution survived Watergate, the American people have yet to be given a full 

accounting of the actions and rationale of the nation’s highest-level elected public official, 

President Richard M. Nixon, in this tragic affair. 

5. The historical interest in Watergate has only grown over time. As more and more 

Watergate-related documents have become available to researchers, scholars have produced a 

growing library on the subject. However, absent from the available primary source materials is 

what President Nixon stated while under oath before the Watergate Grand Jury, which has 

secured the unfortunate reality that speculation is the primary manner by which any scholar can 

discuss President Nixon’s role in this unprecedented constitutional and national crisis—an 

appalling embarrassment for a free and democratic society. 

6. All U.S. political crises, both previous and subsequent, are compared to 

Watergate. A complete accounting of how our government operated during the scandal and the 

subsequent legal actions therefore should be made available to place Watergate in the proper and 
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fully honest historical context, which can only be done through the release of Richard Nixon’s 

Watergate Grand Jury Testimony. Additionally, the contemporary culture of the United States 

disfavors hidden historical truths. 

7. The debate over the level of Richard Nixon’s involvement in Watergate has the 

potential to be closed with the release of his Watergate Grand Jury testimony. The release of 

these specific materials will provide the American people with a significant historical document 

that they should no longer be deprived of, and these documents will present the American people 

with a real understanding of Richard Nixon’s role in and conscious understanding of Watergate 

from the former president’s personal perspective which he delivered while under oath. 

Additionally, President Gerald Ford’s pardon of Richard Nixon covered all crimes he may have 

committed during his entire tenure in office and specifically did not extend beyond August 9, 

1974. However, the June 1975, Richard Nixon testimony was under penalty of perjury. The 

possibility of a perjury charge thus leads one to suspect that the content of the former president’s 

grand jury testimony is potentially Nixon’s most honest account of his Watergate-related actions. 

In view of these points, in my view, there is no Watergate-related document of greater historical 

significance than the Watergate Grand Jury testimony of President Nixon. 

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August 16, 2010. 

 

          /s/ Thomas Long    

       Thomas Long 
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Declaration of Keith W. Olson 

 

I, Keith W. Olson, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am Professor Emeritus of History at the University of Maryland. My primary 

teaching interest is 20th-century United States presidential history. I submit this declaration, 

which is based on my knowledge as an historian who has devoted extensive attention to the story 

of President Nixon and Watergate, to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I am the author of the book Watergate: The Presidential Scandal That Shook 

America (2003). In addition, my essay, “Watergate,” will appear in the forthcoming Wiley-

Blackwell A Companion to Richard M. Nixon, edited by Professor Melvin Small. The companion 

will contain thirty essays by prominent historians about aspects of Nixon’s career. Publication of 

the companion will precede a July 2011 conference to be held at the Nixon Presidential Library 

with roundtable discussions on the state of Nixon historiography. Another of my essays, “The 

Watergate Investigation: Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities, 1973-

1974,” will appear in Raymond Smock, Roger Burns, and David Hostetter, eds., Congress 

Investigates (forthcoming 2010). 

3. As my forthcoming essay in the Wiley-Blackwell companion begins, Watergate 

“remains at the heart of any evaluation of Richard M. Nixon, his administration, and his political 

career.” In August 1974, Nixon became the first president to resign from office. Fifteen months 
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earlier he described the crisis that eventually led to his resignation: The Watergate affair, he 

stated, “include[s] charges of illegal activity during and preceding the 1972 presidential election 

and charges that responsible officials participated in efforts to cover up that illegal activity.” This 

two-part definition had accuracy, clarity, and durability. 

4. The term Watergate came from a complex of two large buildings on the banks of 

the Potomac River in Washington, DC, where on June 17, 1972, police apprehended burglars in 

the offices of the Democratic National Committee. A Harris Poll that was conducted in the 

autumn of 1972 found that seventy-six percent of the public had heard about the break-in. In 

January 1973, Judge John Sirica presided over the trial of the burglars. The next month, by 

unanimous vote the Senate established the Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign 

Activities to investigate. 

5. The three networks—ABC, CBS, and NBC—televised the hearings and the 

Public Broadcasting Service (PBS) taped the hearings and replayed them in the evenings.    

During his July 16, 1973 testimony, presidential aide Alexander Butterfield revealed the 

existence of a taping system that recorded conversations in the Oval Office, the presidential 

office in the Old Executive Office Building, Camp David, the Lincoln Sitting Room, and the 

cabinet room. Immediately the Senate Committee and the President-appointed special prosecutor 

requested access to the tapes. The President refused, although sources as the Wall St. Journal, the 

National Review, and 1964 Republican presidential candidate Senator Barry Goldwater all stated 

that he should release them. 

6. The struggle over access to the tapes lasted until July 24, 1974, when the Supreme 

Court ruled unanimously that the President must release the requested tapes. One tape clearly 

implicated Nixon in attempted obstruction of justice and abuse of federal agencies. All seventeen 
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members of the House Judiciary Committee, then voting on articles of impeachment, went on 

record as planning to recommend impeachment to the House of Representatives. Republican 

leaders in the Senate informed the President that the Senate would vote to convict. The country, 

meanwhile, stood with uncommon unanimity that the President should resign or Congress should 

remove him from office. In that environment, Nixon resigned. 

7. Watergate constituted the greatest constitutional crisis since the Civil War. All 

three branches of government were intimately involved in a series of crises during the struggle 

for the tapes. In particular, the “Saturday Night Massacre” and the President’s release of 

transcripts of tapes (rather than the tapes themselves) illustrate the scope of the constitutional 

challenges that Watergate presented. From July 1973 to August 1974, discussion of Watergate 

dominated the media. 

8. Watergate’s legacies are many. Public opinion polls report—and have 

consistently done so since the early 1970s—that Americans maintain a fundamental distrust of 

the federal government. Presidential handling of Vietnam and Watergate are the two major 

sources of this distrust. Investigatory journalism, mastered by Carl Bernstein and Bob Woodward 

during Watergate, continues to characterize the media. And to a large degree, investigatory 

journalism operates on the assumption that presidents and their closest aides are untrustworthy. 

One positive impact of Watergate was passage of the Presidential Records Act of 1978, a law 

mandating that presidential records become public property when a president leaves office. The 

origin of the Act, of course, was mistrust of Nixon’s control of his presidential records. 

9. Watergate later directly influenced congressional leaders to forestall any efforts to 

impeach President Ronald Reagan for his actions in connection with the Iran-Contra affair, as 

senators from both parties reportedly did not think that the country was ready to go through that 
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experience again. That reluctance faded by the late 1990s, and the impeachment proceedings 

against President William J. Clinton suggest that Congress no longer views impeachment with 

that same hesitancy. 

10. Watergate continues to stir the public’s interest. For example, during their 

research into Watergate, Bernstein and Woodward relied on a confidential source they identified 

only as “Deep Throat.” In May 2005, Deep Throat’s identity become known and received 

significant media attention, with stories in all the major news outlets. 

11. Scholarly interest in Nixon also remains strong. For example, the National 

Archives periodically releases transcripts of the tape recordings from the approximately 4,000 

hours of Nixon tapes. In June 2009, the Archives released transcripts of 154 hours of tapes, 

which attracted major attention from scholars and media, both in the United States and abroad. 

See, e.g., Charlie Savage, On Nixon Tapes, Ambivalence over Abortion, Not Watergate, N.Y. 

Times, June 23, 2009; Simon Jeffery, Nixon’s Black and White View of Abortion, The Guardian: 

Deadline USA Blog (June 24, 2009), http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/deadlineusa/2009/jun/24/ 

richard-nixon-tapes-abortion. 

12. Watergate merits continued analysis, and in a democracy that means access to all 

relevant archives. It is time to make public Richard Nixon’s June 1975 grand jury testimony. 

Three days after the 1972 break-in, Nixon and his chief-of-staff H. R. Haldeman met for the first 

time after the break-in. The tape of that meeting has an 18½-minute erasure. What did Nixon say 

about that meeting? Was the former President involved in the decision to alter transcripts of 

tapes sent to the House Judiciary Committee? To what extent did the former President’s 

administration use the Internal Revenue Service to harass opponents and critics? What did the 

former President know about purported campaign contributions from Howard Hughes to Charles 
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G. “Bebe” Rebozo? The former President’s testimony may provide at least partial answers to the 

above questions and thus add to a better understanding of Watergate and the abuse of 

presidential power that the word now represents. 

13. Watergate, finally, is part of the larger narrative of the post-World War II 

“‘imperial’ presidency.” Nixon’s views of his powers, as he exercised them during Watergate, 

therefore, have a broader importance. This broader context includes Congress’s and the 

judiciary’s views of their powers and the relationship between their powers and those of the 

president. 

14. Nixon, of course, is the only president to have resigned. Watergate was the 

reason, and history deserves full access to all relevant documents. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August 6, 2010. 

 

 

          /s/ Keith W. Olson    

       Keith W. Olson 
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Declaration of Eric S. Perlstein 

 

I, Eric S. Perlstein, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am an historian whose primary field of study is 20th-century American political 

history. I write under the name “Rick Perlstein.” I submit this declaration to support the above-

captioned petition to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a 

federal grand jury on June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special 

Prosecution Force. 

2. I am author of Nixonland: The Rise of a President and the Fracturing of America 

(2008) and the editor of Richard Nixon: Speeches, Writings, Documents (2008), the first and 

only scholarly collection of the thoughts of Richard Nixon. I also wrote the foreword to the 2003 

book Healing Richard Nixon, a memoir by the doctor who treated Nixon around the time that he 

testified before the grand jury. My writings on politics, history, and culture have appeared in 

publications including the New York Times, Washington Post, Wall St. Journal, Newsweek, The 

New Republic, and The Nation. My book Nixonland was chosen as the second best nonfiction 

book of the year by the editors of Amazon.com and was reviewed favorably by writers across the 

ideological spectrum. My first book, Before the Storm: Barry Goldwater and the Unmaking of 

the American Consensus (2001), which also dealt considerably with Richard Nixon, won the 

2002 Los Angeles Times Book Prize for history. According to a 2008 profile of me in the 

Politico newspaper, I am the “chronicler extraordinaire of modern conservatism,” and offer “a 

hint of how interesting the political and intellectual dialogue might be if [I] could attract some 



 2 

mimics.” I have lectured on modern American politics at universities including Columbia, 

Princeton, and Cornell, and my work was the focus of a special roundtable at the 2008 

conference of the American Political Science Association. 

3. In my view, Richard Nixon’s testifying to the grand jury was an extremely 

important historical event. Its importance is shown by the unprecedented step of sending a small 

segment of the grand jury across the country to take the testimony and by the fact that, according 

to Library of Congress researchers, a former chief executive had never before testified to a grand 

jury. The significance of hearing Nixon speak about Watergate is further shown by the attention 

given to the televised interview of Nixon in 1977 by David Frost, which has since been the 

subject of two books, a Broadway play, and a major motion picture. The television interview 

drew such attention because Nixon had never faced public questioning on Watergate. The 

importance of the Frost interview would pale in comparison to Nixon’s sworn testimony to the 

grand jury. 

4. The issues on which Nixon testified on June 23 and 24, 1975, were among the 

most important in the annals of American law and politics, and indeed the annals of democratic 

republicanism itself. According to contemporary news accounts, among the issues discussed was 

the alteration of the transcripts of White House tapes presented to the House Judiciary 

Committee investigating Watergate. That Committee was absorbed from start to finish in the 

most vital questions of the separation of powers: Congress’s constitutional duty to hold the 

executive branch accountable, and the Executive’s duty to submit to investigation. Knowing if, 

how, why, and to what effect Nixon manipulated the evidence he presented to Congress will 

illuminate crucial questions in the disciplines of American history and political science about 

how this key figure in the history of executive power understood his constitutional obligation. Of 
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the seven presidents to follow Nixon, three (Reagan, in the Iran-Contra matter, Clinton, in the 

Lewinsky matter, and George W. Bush, in the matter of spying on American citizens), faced the 

question of how much and what sorts of evidence they would have to yield to congressional 

investigators. Thus it is reasonable to suppose that these same questions will arise again and 

again in the future, to the continued investigation and fascination of scholars of American 

politics. 

5. The matter of whether and how the Nixon administration misused the IRS and 

other federal agencies to punish enemies is crucial to understanding the extent of the abuse of 

executive power by one of the most widely-studied figures in the history of American politics, 

the subject of perhaps more biographies per decade than any president except for Lincoln. That 

matter, and the question of illicit financial transactions between Nixon’s friend Bebe Rebozo and 

industrialist Howard Hughes—which according to contemporary accounts were also discussed in 

the grand jury testimony—get to the heart of one of the most storied questions in the study of 

recent American history: was Richard Nixon “a crook”? 

6. According to one contemporaneous account, the grand jury discussed the 

wiretapping carried out at the orders of the President and his national security advisor, Henry 

Kissinger, of staffers at the National Security Council and of journalists. These charges had been 

factually proven by the time of Nixon’s testimony. Nixon’s explanation of why he believed these 

actions to be legitimate goes to the heart of Nixon’s understanding about the extent of his powers 

as president. “The manner in which the office has appropriated powers never intended for it,” in 

the words of one review, is the subject of one of the most important books in the field of 

presidential history, Arthur Schlesinger Jr.’s The Imperial Presidency (1973). The subject has 

only become more relevant since, as seen in books like Garry Wills’ Bomb Power (2010). 
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7. The question of the “18 and a half minute gap,” also reportedly discussed in the 

testimony, is the greatest whodunit in American history. It is the subject of speculation, fable, 

and satire. The missing material itself promises to cast the most profound light on President 

Nixon’s direct involvement in a criminal conspiracy. Nixon’s sworn testimony about the 

eighteen and a half minutes could offer the best new clue as to their contents in 38 years. In 

parallel, the notion of Nixon testifying under oath—with no fear of legal jeopardy because of the 

full pardon he had received for any crimes he may have committed while president—about 

whether he intentionally erased that tape is about as important a piece of data as can be imagined 

in the ongoing assessment of the character of this most important figure in American history. 

Like magic, it revives a potential long believed to have disappeared: getting to the bottom of 

Richard Nixon’s involvement in the Watergate scandal. 

8. The headline granted the article about the event in the July 5, 1975 issue of the 

Economist magazine is telling: “The Truth At Last?” Nixon’s own demeanor after the event 

suggests that the discussion of all the issues mentioned above was intense and robust during the 

grand jury questioning. According to the Washington Post of June 28, 1975, Nixon “rose, pale 

and shaken.” An associate reported that Nixon had told him “it was very rough.” We see a clue 

that important issues were discussed in deeply relevant terms, finally, in the fact that both John 

D. Ehrlichman and H.R. (Bob) Haldeman told the Post “they intended to seek access to Nixon’s 

account in appealing” their own convictions. The question whether Nixon made these two men 

scapegoats for his own actions is a major one in ongoing considerations of the history of 

Watergate. Both appeared to suspect, however, that this testimony would help clear them by 

indicating that the president himself directed the activities for which they served jail time. 
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9. Revealing the contents of Richard Nixon’s testimony will profoundly contribute 

to existing scholarship and aid future research. My most recent scholarly contribution to Nixon 

studies is a chapter on the 1972 presidential election to the forthcoming volume The Blackwell 

Companion to Richard Nixon, edited by top Nixon scholar Melvin Small. The existence of this 

book project in itself attests to the vitality and importance of Richard Nixon as an ongoing 

scholarly concern: Blackwell’s “Companion to” series is reserved only for major scholarly 

disciplines and subdisciplines. (It will join “Blackwell Companions to” Philosophy, the Bible, 

Consciousness, the Qur’an, Catholicism, Phonology etc.) The book is now in the final editorial 

process. In the event of a favorable ruling for the petitioners in this case, I can’t but imagine that 

any number of the chapters will have to be sent back to the authors for revision—so important 

does this new historical evidence promise to be. 

10. Although he was pardoned for any crimes he may have committed as president, 

Nixon was under legal jeopardy if he perjured himself in grand jury testimony. Comparing his 

testimony to the facts known today might reveal whether he perjured himself. This question 

whether or not Richard Nixon would have committed the crime of lying to a grand jury in order 

to protect his historical legacy is crucially relevant to ongoing attempts to assess his character 

and personality. The testimony can furthermore be weighed against all his other public 

statements about these events that were not under oath to help to determine what might have 

happened had he gone to trial. It would also answer crucial questions about the extent of his 

truthfulness in his public defense in the years 1973 and 1974. 

11. Watergate has remained in the public consciousness for nearly four decades. My 

search of the Google News database found that the word “Watergate”—and this testimony cuts 

to the core of the issues that attach to that word—appeared in articles in the indexed newspapers 
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55,500 times between 1975 and 1980, 24,400 times between 1980 and 1985, 29,900 times 

between 1985 and 1990, 31,500 times between 1990 and 1995, 41,800 times between 1995 and 

2000, 35,400 times between 2000 and 2005, and 53,600 times between 2005 and 2010. I myself 

am one of myriad scholars who has devoted an entire professional career to these events. Most 

recently, the controversies over how to renovate the Watergate exhibit at the Richard Nixon 

Library and Museum were the subject of a major New York Times article. The exhibit itself, 

which is still under construction, may well have to be further modified to accommodate new 

information that could come out in this grand jury testimony. 

12. The issues of executive power and the accountability of the president to the 

legislative branch for that power have recurred at regular intervals ever since Watergate, as I 

noted in paragraph 4, above. Indeed, since Watergate, the question whether a president or former 

president can, or should, be called to testify during his term of office in a legal proceeding 

concerning his conduct has arisen numerous times. These issues were the subject of an important 

1999 book by Bob Woodward, Shadow: Five Presidents and the Legacy of Watergate. And 

recently, Republican Congresswoman Michele Bachmann (R-MN) has suggested that subpoenas 

against the Obama White House will certainly follow if the Republicans take back the House in 

November 2010, which will revive the discussion once more. 

13. The transcript of President Nixon’s grand jury testimony is a unique historical 

document, and virtually nothing about its content is now known. Releasing it would be an 

enormous boon to scholarship. 
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Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on September 9, 2010. 

 

         /s/ Eric S. Perlstein    

       Eric S. Perlstein 
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Declaration of Melvin Small 

 

I, Melvin Small, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am Distinguished Professor Emeritus of History at Wayne State University. 

Among the many courses I taught were the U.S. Since 1945, American Foreign Relations, and 

the Vietnam War. Over the forty-five years I was at Wayne State, I concentrated my research on 

Richard Nixon, the Anti-Vietnam War Movement, and the relationship between opinion and 

foreign policy. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. Among my publications relevant to this petition are Johnson, Nixon, and the 

Doves (1988), The Presidency of Richard Nixon (1999), and At the Water’s Edge: American 

Politics and the Vietnam War (2005). I am currently editing A Companion to Richard Nixon in 

the Blackwell series. Among other honors and awards, I have been the president of the Peace 

History Society, a fellow at the Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences, a 

recipient of a NATO Research Fellowship, and a winner of the Kuehl Prize of the Society for 

Historians of American Foreign Relations. 

3. I studied Watergate intensely for my book on Nixon’s presidency that deals with 

it in great detail. Currently, as I am editing the Companion volume, I have had to revisit 

Watergate scholarship not only in the specific chapter devoted to it but in several other chapters 
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as well. My own work over the years in the National Archives’ Nixon collection has involved 

both printed and electronic materials. 

4. Although few presidencies have produced so much archival material so soon after 

its termination, there are still scores of questions that remain about President Nixon and the 

lacunae in our understanding of Watergate. As I examine the Watergate chapter written by 

Watergate scholar Keith Olson in my new book on Nixon, I have come to realize that we are still 

far from nailing down the complete story. The release of Nixon’s grand jury testimony in the 

Alger Hiss case has enriched our understanding of that seminal event in Cold War History. I am 

certain that the release of Nixon’s testimony in the Watergate affair will make a comparable 

contribution for historians and their students, and other chroniclers of the complicated story of 

how Richard Nixon became the only president who felt compelled to resign from office. This 

story is too important in our nation’s history to justify the withholding of this potentially 

important data from public purview, thirty-five years after the fact. 

5. Among the issues that may be cleared up with the release of the grand jury 

testimony, at least in part, are the relationship between President Nixon and Howard Hughes, the 

president’s use of the IRS to harass enemies, and the famous eighteen-and-one-half-minute gap 

in the tapes—all issues of continuing interest and debate among historians. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on July [31], 2010. 

 

       /s/ Melvin Small    

       Melvin Small 
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Declaration of Raymond Smock 

 

I, Raymond Smock, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I submit this declaration to support the above-captioned petition to unseal the 

transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a federal grand jury on June 23-24, 

1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special Prosecution Force. 

2. I am Director of the Robert C. Byrd Center for Legislative Studies at Shepherd 

University, a private, nonpartisan, and nonprofit educational organization whose mission is to 

promote a better understanding of the United States Congress, both historically and in a 

contemporary setting. The Center encourages historians, journalists, political scientists, and 

constitutional scholars to draw on the historical records of Congress to gain new insights into the 

workings of the legislative branch of government and its relationship with the Executive and 

Judicial branches of government under the U.S. Constitution. I am a former Historian of the 

United States House of Representatives, and I have studied and written extensively on the history 

of the United States Congress. 

3. I am co-editor of Masters of the House: Congressional Leadership over Two 

Centuries (1998), and editor of Landmark Documents on the U. S. Congress (1999). Currently, I 

am editing Congress Investigates (forthcoming 2010), a two-volume compilation of scholarly 

articles and government documents covering the history of congressional investigations from 

1792 to the present. In addition, I am a member of the adjunct history faculty at Shepherd 

University where I teach courses in U.S. History and Public History. 
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4. I served as a major consultant to the National Constitution Center in Philadelphia, 

which opened in 2003, where I helped write the extensive exhibit copy that explains the history 

of the three branches of the federal government. 

5. I am past president of the Society for History in the Federal Government, the 

Association for Documentary Editing, and the Association of Centers for the Study of Congress. 

I currently serve on the National Historical Publications and Records Commission, an 

independent agency affiliated with the National Archives and Records Administration. 

6. Access to records that reveal how the United States Government conducts its 

business is an essential requirement of our representative democracy. If the public is ill-

informed, or misinformed about actions of elected officials, our Constitutional government 

suffers and could fail. The Watergate investigations revealed how fragile our Constitutional 

government can be when laws are broken and crimes covered up by high government officials 

including the President of the United States. We can be proud of the fact that once crimes and 

improper conduct became public information, and once sufficient documentary evidence came to 

light in the Watergate scandal, Constitutional checks and balances came into play that led to the 

resignation of the president and jail sentences for other officials. Unsealing the transcript of 

President Nixon’s federal grand jury testimony will enable historians, journalists, and other 

writers to spread this important information to the American public. Without an informed public, 

as Madison, Jefferson, and other Founders put it, our system of representative democracy could 

fail. 

7. The investigation of Watergate, which involved all three branches of the 

government playing major Constitutional roles, is one of the most significant episodes in the 

annals of American history. Until the release in July and August of 1974 of tape recordings in the 
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Oval Office, ordered by a unanimous decision of the Supreme Court, the Congressional 

investigation was stalled. The release of the tapes made it possible for the House Judiciary 

Committee to move forward with articles of impeachment that led to the President’s resignation. 

The entire investigation hinged on the High Court’s decision that the public’s right to know what 

was on those tapes outweighed presidential privilege to keep them secret. 

8. We should not have to wait any longer for additional details and records that will 

add depth to our understanding of Watergate. Although there are certainly compelling reasons 

why grand jury testimony is sealed, I believe that sufficient time has passed that the initial 

reasons for secrecy are greatly diminished if not non-existent and weigh less in the equation than 

does the need to have all Watergate documents, especially President Nixon’s grand jury 

testimony, and related matter brought into full public light. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August 31, 2010. 

 

          /s/ Raymond Smock    

       Raymond Smock 
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Declaration of Barry Sussman 

 

I, Barry Sussman, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am the editor of the Watchdog Project of the Nieman Foundation for Journalism 

at Harvard University. Our goal, mostly through a website (www.niemanwatchdog.org), is to 

encourage better news reporting on public policy issues. I submit this declaration to support the 

above-captioned petition to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a 

federal grand jury on June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special 

Prosecution Force. 

2. From 1965 to 1987, I was a Washington Post editor, holding the positions of city 

editor, special Watergate editor, special projects editor, and pollster and public opinion analyst (I 

founded the Washington Post poll and was co-founder of the Washington Post/ABC News poll).  

In addition, I was a columnist for the Washington Post National Weekly Edition. 

3. I am the author of three books. Of particular relevance here is my first book, The 

Great Coverup: Nixon and the Scandal of Watergate, published in 1974 and named one of the 

best books of the year by the New York Times and Washington Post. The book was reissued in 

1992 and a new ebook version is coming out soon, probably this fall. 

4. Interest in Nixon and Watergate continues to be high. This past month I received 

emails from Norway and England from people who had just read The Great Coverup and who 

had specific questions about events back then. In the same period I spoke to two journalism 
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groups here in Washington about watchdog reporting in general, and both times what they 

wanted to hear about the most was Watergate. 

5. As a journalist in 1975, I believed Richard Nixon’s testimony to be an extremely 

significant event, in light of the continuing investigation into Watergate and the fact of a former 

president testifying before a grand jury investigating criminal activity, much less criminal 

activity involving that president’s own Administration. Indeed, the event was so important that 

the Post reported the news under a banner headline – a headline format reserved for the biggest 

stories. A copy of the front page of the Washington Post from that day is attached to this 

declaration. 

6. Although the Post devoted prime “above the fold” space to reporting on Mr. 

Nixon’s grand jury testimony, it was unable to report on the content of it. Instead, it devoted part 

of its coverage to explaining that the transcript was sealed. Therefore, even 35 years later, the 

story remains incomplete. 

7. It is not just my own point of view that persuades me that interest in the 

Watergate scandal and Nixon remains high 35 years after the grand jury disbanded and 38 years 

since the story broke. Watergate is taught in high schools and colleges and is often the subject of 

debate even now. For example, in June 2010, the D.C. Circuit’s Judicial Conference organized 

and hosted a panel discussion on the topic “Who Solved Watergate?” As it happened, I was 

asked to and did participate. Later I was told that the discussion had been a highlight of the three-

day conference. 

8. In addition, last year I took part in a panel discussion on watchdog reporting at the 

annual convention of the leading college journalism teachers’ group. There too the questions 

often turned to the subject of Watergate and Richard Nixon. 
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9. It is my view that the Watergate scandal and the fact that Nixon was never 

indicted damaged the country’s faith in its government. Making Nixon’s grand jury testimony 

public would help to restore faith in the legal justice system and would be extremely valuable for 

scholars. 

10. For all these reasons, I believe that the public interest would be served by opening 

the grand jury testimony – and ill-served if it is not opened. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed in Potomac, Maryland, on July 30, 2010. 

 

 

          /s/ Barry Sussman    

       Barry Sussman 
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Declaration of Julian Zelizer 

 

I, Julian Zelizer, hereby declare as follows: 

    

1. I am Professor of History and Public Affairs at the Woodrow Wilson School of 

Public and International Affairs at Princeton University. My primary research and teaching 

interests are in the field of American political history. I submit this declaration to support the 

above-captioned petition to unseal the transcript of President Richard Nixon’s testimony before a 

federal grand jury on June 23-24, 1975, and associated materials of the Watergate Special 

Prosecution Force. 

2. I have authored and edited numerous books that examine U.S. political leaders, 

policies, and institutions since the New Deal. I am author of Jimmy Carter (2010), Conservatives 

in Power: The Reagan Years, 1981-1989 (2010, co-authored with Meg Jacobs), Arsenal of 

Democracy: The Politics of National Security from World War II to the War on Terrorism 

(2010), On Capitol Hill: The Struggle to Reform Congress and its Consequences, 1948-2000 

(2004), and Taxing America: Wilbur D. Mills, Congress, and the State, 1945-1975 (1998). I 

edited The Presidency of George W. Bush: A First Historical Assessment (2010), New Directions 

in Policy History (2005), The American Congress: The Building of Democracy (2004), and, 

along with Bruce Schulman, co-edited The Constitution and Public Policy in U.S. History (2009) 

and Rightward Bound: Making America Conservative in the 1970s (2008) and with Meg Jacobs 

and Bill Novak, The Democratic Experiment: New Directions in American Political History 

(2003). I have also written several scholarly articles on political scandal, presidential power, and 
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campaign finance that contained analyses of the institutional impact of Watergate, including 

most recently a book chapter on the relationship between conservatism and presidential power 

since President Nixon. I am co-editor of the Politics and Society in Twentieth Century America 

book series, and a member of the editorial board of The Journal of Policy History. I am a regular 

contributor to CNN.com and Politico, and I have published articles in the New York Times, 

Washington Post, Los Angeles Times, and Newsweek, among others. 

3. As a historian who specializes in the evolution of Congress, I have spent a 

considerable amount of time trying to understand how Watergate transformed the institution. 

One of the most important effects of this scandal was to produce a period of major reform in 

Washington, one that is only rivalled by the Progressive Era. As a result of Watergate, many 

members of Congress moved to strengthen their institution. The scandal had raised important 

questions about the balance of power between Congress and the president, with growing 

awareness of the problems that had resulted from the growth of presidential power throughout 

the twentieth century. The scandal also amplified the need to correct some of the internal 

problems that reformers had pointed to with regards to how Congress worked. Rather than 

focusing simply on the wrongdoing of Richard Nixon, reforms looked at the institutional roots of 

the scandal to try to prevent this from happening again. The scandal gave political momentum to 

reforms such as the War Powers Act of 1973 and the Budget Reform Act of 1974 which 

attempted, sometimes unsuccessfully and other times successfully, to reclaim some of the 

influence that legislators had lost. 

4. As a result of Watergate, Congress also passed many other kinds of government 

reforms to diminish the chances of corruption and abuse of power that had long-term 

consequences and which are important when reformers grapple with these issues in current 
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times. For example, reformers passed a series of sunshine laws that required politicians to 

conduct more of their business in open so that their work could be subject to public scrutiny. 

Congress also passed ethics laws that created tighter restrictions on the behavior of legislators 

and executive branch officials. In 1978, Congress established the Office of the Independent 

Counsel, which lasted until 1999, that resulted in aggressive, independent investigations of the 

executive branch when there was evidence of corruption. The campaign finance system also 

underwent huge reforms that strengthened the role of small contributors, introduced public funds 

into presidential campaigns, and made campaign contributions more transparent than ever 

before. Our current political process is rooted in the changes implemented in this era. 

5. Efforts to reform government today must begin with an examination of this last 

great period of reform. All of the issues that were tackled in this period—from the growth of 

presidential power and how to restrain it, to the relationship between money and politics—

continue to be enormously relevant, and understanding the history can provide us with new 

insights about our current times. 

6. In addition, the 1970s has become one of the most vibrant decades in terms of 

historical scholarship. So much attention has been paid to the 1960s that historians overlooked 

the important significance of the decade that followed—one that many argue was more important 

to the current era. 

7. Better understanding Richard Nixon’s presidency and Watergate will be central to 

our historical research on this period. As I argue in a chapter about conservatives and presidential 

power since the 1970s, Richard Nixon’s presidency was enormously important and arguably had 

as much impact as would Ronald Reagan’s on domestic politics, ranging from the evolution of 

the Republican Party and modern conservatism to the evolution of the executive branch. 
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President Nixon’s grand jury testimony would be a valuable addition to our archival data from 

the period. The more information that we have about what actually happened during this scandal, 

the better equipped historians will be to produce their work. So much of Watergate has been 

understood through partisan eyes (whether through Nixon’s opponents or supporters), that it is 

crucial to have historical data from which we can develop our historical understanding of these 

events. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 

and correct. 

Executed on August 31, 2010. 

 

          /s/ Julian Zelizer    

       Julian Zelizer 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 




